
 

Democratic Services democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Title: Standards Committee Hearing Panel 

Date: 20 December 2011 

Time: 10.00am 

Venue Council Chamber, Hove Town Hall 

Members: Councillors: Lepper, Littman, A. Norman 
  
Independent  Members: Mr. P. Rose and Dr. 
M. Wilkinson 
 
 

Contact: Mark Wall 
Head of Democratic Services 
01273 291006 
mark.wall@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

 
The Town Hall has facilities for wheelchair users, 
including lifts and toilets 

 

T  

An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for 
anyone wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter 
and infra red hearing aids are available for use 
during the meeting.  If you require any further 
information or assistance, please contact the 
receptionist on arrival. 

  

 FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 

If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are 
instructed to do so, you must leave the building by 
the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to 
the nearest exit by council staff.  It is vital that you 
follow their instructions: 
 

• You should proceed calmly; do not run and do 
not use the lifts; 

• Do not stop to collect personal belongings; 

• Once you are outside, please do not wait 
immediately next to the building, but move 
some distance away and await further 
instructions; and 

• Do not re-enter the building until told that it is 
safe to do so. 

 



 

 
 



STANDARDS COMMITTEE HEARING PANEL 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

Part One Page 

 

1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR  

 The Chair of the Hearing Panel must be an Independent Member and 
therefore nominations will be restricted to the Independent Members 
listed on the agenda. 

 

 

2. PROCEDURAL BUSINESS 1 - 28 

 (a) Declaration of Substitutes – Where Councillors are unable to attend 
a meeting, a substitute Member from the Standards Committee, and 
from the same Political Group may attend, speak and vote in their 
place for that meeting. 

 
(b) Declarations of Interest by all Members present of any personal 

interests in matters on the agenda, the nature of any interests and 
whether the Member regards the interests as prejudicial under the 
terms of the Code of Conduct. 

 
(c) Exclusion of the Press and Public – To consider whether, in view of 

the nature of business to be transacted, or the nature of the 
proceedings, the press and public should be excluded from the 
meeting when any of the following items are under consideration. 

 
 NOTE: Any items appearing in Part 2 of the Agenda states in its 

heading the category under which the information disclosed 
in the report is exempt from disclosure and therefore not 
available to the public. 

 
 A list and description of the exempt categories is available for public 

inspection at Brighton and Hove Town Halls. 
 
(d) Procedure for Local Determination Hearings of Allegations of Member 

Misconduct – To note the procedure as listed in the agenda papers 
(copy attached). 

 

 

 

 PART TWO 

 

3. CONSIDERATION OF A COMPLAINT MADE AGAINST A MEMBER 
CASE REFERENCE: BHC-006219 - EXEMPT CATEGORY 1 

29 - 82 

 Covering report of the Monitoring Officer to a Standards Committee 
Hearing Panel in connection with a Code of Conduct complaint against a 
Councillor (copy circulated to Members of the Panel only). 
 

 

 



STANDARDS COMMITTEE HEARING PANEL 

 
 

4. PART TWO ITEMS  

 To consider whether or not the above item and the decisions thereon 
should remain exempt from disclosure to the press and public. 

 

 

 

The City Council actively welcomes members of the public and the press to attend its 
meetings and holds as many of its meetings as possible in public. 
 
Agendas and minutes are published on the council’s website www.brighton-hove.gov.uk.  
Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the meeting date. 
 
Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large print, in Braille, on audio tape or on 
disc, or translated into any other language as requested. 
 
For further details and general enquiries about this meeting contact Mark Wall, (01273 
291006, email mark.wall@brighton-hove.gov.uk) or email democratic.services@brighton-
hove.gov.uk  
 

 

Date of Publication - Monday, 12 December 2011 

 

 

 



Agenda Item 2(d) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Procedure for Local Determination Hearings of 

Allegations of Member Misconduct 
 

 

1



 

Procedure for Local Determination Hearings of Allegations 

of Member Misconduct 

 

 
Contents 

 

Paragraph 

No               Page No 

 

Introduction and summary ………………………………………………... 1 

 

1. Interpretation 

............................................................................................……….. 1 

 

2. Modification of Procedure 

.....................................................................……….. 2 

  

3. Representation 

.........................................................................................……….. 2 

 

4. Pre-hearing Procedure ………………. ..............…………………………... 2 

 

5. Legal Advice to the Hearing Panel 

........................................................……….. 4 

 

6. Setting the scene at the Hearing 

..........................................................………… 4 

 

7. Preliminary procedural issues 

..................................................................……… 4 

 

8. The Hearing of the allegations of failure to comply with the 

Code of Conduct……..............................................…………………………...

 6 

 

9. If the Member has not failed to follow the Code of Conduct 

........……….. 9 

 

10. Action consequent upon a failure to comply with the 

Code of Conduct 

...................................................................................…………. 9 

 

11. Reference back to the ESO 

..............................………......................................... 10 

 

2



 

12. The close of the Hearing 

........................................................................…….….. 11 

 

13. Appeals 

....................................................................................................…………. 12 

 

Appendix A: Sanctions…………………………………………………………….. 14 

 

Appendix B: Timeline for Local Determination 

Procedure………………………..16 

 

Appendix C: Hearing Process Summary  …………………………………………..17

3



1 

 Introduction and Summary 

This document sets out the procedure which will be followed in the 

local determination of allegations of misconduct by Members. It takes 

into account the statutory provisions in the Local Government Act 

2000, the Standards Committee (England) Regulations 2008 and the 

statutory guidance issued thereunder.  

 

The procedure enables a Hearing Panel to receive an investigation 

report and hear both sides of the matter. The Hearing Panel can then 

come to an informed decision as to whether the Member has failed to 

comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct for Members and upon 

any consequential action.  

 

The Hearing Panel acts in an inquisitorial manner, rather than an 

adversarial manner, seeking the truth in relation to the conduct of the 

Member on the balance of the information available to it, and may 

commission further investigation or information if it needs to do so in 

order to come to a decision. 

The Hearing Panel will normally consist of three person (which is the 

minimum number required) including at least one independent person 

and at least one Member of the authority or, where the allegation 

relates to a Member of Rottingdean Parish Council, at least one 

member of that body. 

A timeline for the local determination procedure can be found at 

Appendix B to this document, and a summary of the procedure of the 

hearing itself at Appendix C. 

1 Interpretation 

(a) “Code of Conduct” means the Code of Conduct for Members. 

(b) “ESO” means Ethical Standards Officer. 

(c) “Member”, except where the context otherwise requires, means 

the member or co-opted member of the authority who is the 

subject of the allegation being considered by the Hearing Panel. 

It also includes the Member’s nominated representative.  

(d) “Investigating Officer” as appropriate in the circumstances 

means the ESO who referred the report to the authority, and 

includes his or her nominated representative, or the person 

appointed by the Monitoring Officer to undertake that 

investigation (which may include the Monitoring Officer, and his 

or her nominated representative). 

(e) “The matter” is the subject matter of the Investigating Officer’s 

4



2 

report. 

(f) “The Hearing Panel’ refers to the Standards Sub-Committee 

whose role it is to hear cases and make local determinations on 

complaints about alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct. 

(g) “The Democratic Services Officer” means a person given 

responsibility by the authority for supporting the Hearing Panel’s 

discharge of its functions, acting as clerk for the hearing including 

recording the Hearing Panel’s decisions. 

(h) ‘Legal Adviser’ means a person given responsibility by the 

authority for providing legal advice to the Hearing Panel. This 

may be the Monitoring Officer, another legally qualified or 

suitably experienced officer of the authority, or someone 

appointed for this purpose from outside the authority1 

(i) “Regulation 17” and “Regulation 20” means respectively 

regulations 17 and 20 of the Standards Committee (England) 

Regulations 2008. 

(j) “The Chair” refers to the person presiding at the hearing. 

 (k) “Parish Council” means Rottingdean Parish Council. 

2 Modification of Procedure 

The Chair may agree to vary this procedure in any particular instance 

where he/she is of the opinion that such a variation is necessary in the 

interests of fairness and does not conflict with any statutory 

requirement. 

3 Representation 

The Member may be represented or accompanied during the meeting 

by a solicitor, counsel or, with the permission of the Hearing Panel, 

another person. Note that the cost of such representation must be met 

by the Member, unless the Hearing Panel has expressly agreed to meet 

all or any part of that cost.2 

                                            
1   The role of the Investigating Officer must be kept distinct from the roles of 

Democratic Services Officer and Legal Adviser to the Hearing Panel. The Investigating 

Officer must be a different person from the person or persons who act as Democratic 

Services Officer and/or legal adviser to the Hearing Panel in respect of the allegation. 
2  Regulations under Section 101 of the Local Government Act 2000 grant authorities a 

discretion to provide an indemnity or to provide insurance to Members to meet the 

costs which they may incur in  “Part 3 proceedings” (investigations, hearings or other 

proceedings under Part III of the 2000 Act), but any such indemnity or insurance is 

required to be subject to a requirement to repay any sums received in the event that 

the Member is found to have failed to comply with the Code of Conduct. 

5



3 

4 Pre-hearing Procedure  

Upon (1) reference of a matter from an ESO for local determination 

following completion of the ESO’s report or (2) receipt of a final report 

of the Investigating Officer which includes a finding that the Member 

failed to comply with the Code of Conduct or (3) if a Hearing Panel has 

found under Regulation 17 that a report from the Investigating Officer 

should be considered at a Hearing Panel,  the Monitoring Officer shall: 

(a) Arrange a date for the Hearing Panel to hear the matter3; 

(b) Send a copy of the Investigating Officer’s report to the Member 

and advise him/her of the date, time and place for the hearing, 

provide the Member with a copy of the determination 

procedure and outline the Member’s rights and responsibilities 

during the hearing process; 

(c) Send a copy of the Investigating Officer’s report to the person 

who made the allegation and advise him/her of the date, time 

and place for the hearing and provide him/her with a copy of 

the determination procedure; 

(d) Notify the Parish Council of the matter and of the date, time and 

place of the hearing if the allegation is made against a Parish 

Councillor; 

(e) Request the Member to complete and return the model Pre-

Hearing Forms A, B, C, D and E, as recommended by the 

Standards Board for England or similar as appropriate within 14 

days of receipt; 

(f) In the light of any Pre-Hearing Forms returned by the Member, 

determine whether the Hearing Panel will require the attendance 

of the Investigating Officer and any additional witnesses at the 

hearing to enable it to come to a properly considered 

conclusion and arrange for their attendance; 

(g) Send a copy of the Member’s response to the Investigating 

Officer for his/her comments, confirm the time, date and place 

of the hearing and invite the Investigating Officer to confirm 

within 14 days of receipt whether he/she: 

                                                                                                                                        
 
3  The hearing must normally be conducted within 3 months of the date when the 

matter is referred by the ESO to the Monitoring Officer (in the case of an ESO 

investigation) or the date when the Investigating Officer delivers his final report to the 

Monitoring Officer (in the case of local investigations). There must also be a gap of at 

least 14 days between the date on which the Monitoring Officer sends the report to 

the Member and the date of the Hearing Panel, unless the Member agrees to the 

hearing being earlier. 

6



4 

• wants to be represented at the hearing; 

• wants to call relevant witnesses to give evidence to the 

hearing panel; 

• wants any part of the hearing held in private; and 

• wants any part of the Investigating Officer’s report or other 

relevant documents to be withheld from the public. 

(h) Notify the witnesses who will be required to attend the hearing of 

the date, time and place of the hearing and that their 

attendance is required; 

(i) Prepare a Pre-Hearing Summary Report: 

• Setting out the date, time and place of the hearing; 

• Summarising the allegation; 

• Outlining the main facts of the case that are agreed; 

• Outlining the main facts of the case that are not agreed; 

• Noting whether the Member concerned and the Investigating 

Officer will go to or be represented at the hearing; 

• Listing those witnesses, if any, who will be asked to give 

evidence; and  

• Outlining the proposed procedure for the hearing. 

(j) Arrange that the agenda for the hearing, together with the Pre-

Hearing Summary Report and copies of any relevant documents 

are sent, at least two weeks before the hearing, to: 

(i) All members of the Hearing Panel; 

(ii) The Member; 

(iii) The person who made the allegation, and 

(iv) The Investigating Officer. 

5 Legal Advice to the Hearing Panel 

The Hearing Panel may take legal advice from its legal adviser at any 

time during the hearing or while they are considering the outcome. The 

substance of any legal advice given to the Hearing Panel should be 

7



5 

shared with the Member and the Investigating Officer if they are 

present.4  

6 Setting the scene at the hearing 

At the start of the hearing, the Chair shall introduce each of the 

members of the Hearing Panel, the Member (if present), the 

Investigating Officer (if present) and any other officers present, and 

shall then explain the procedure which the Hearing Panel will follow in 

the conduct of the hearing.  

7 Preliminary procedural issues 

The Hearing Panel shall then deal with the following preliminary 

procedural matters in the following order: 

(a) Disclosures of interest 

The Chair shall ask members of the Hearing Panel to disclose the 

existence and nature of any personal or prejudicial interests 

which they have in the matter, and to withdraw from 

consideration of the matter if so required. 

(b) Quorum 

The Chair shall confirm that the Hearing Panel is quorate4 

 

(c) Hearing procedure 

The Chair shall confirm that all present know the procedure 

which the Hearing Panel will follow in determining the matter. 

(d) Proceeding in the absence of the Member 

If the Member is not present at the start of the hearing: 

                                            
4  In the interests of openness, the Hearing Panel may prefer to receive any such advice 

in the main hearing room in the presence of the Investigating Officer and the 

Member. Where this is not practicable, the legal adviser should repeat in the 

presence of the Investigating Officer and the Member the advice which he/she has 

tendered. 

 
4  A meeting of the Hearing Panel is not quorate unless at least three members of the 

Hearing Panel are present for the duration of the meeting. See the Introduction for 

further information about the composition of the Panel.  

NB: If the Standards Committee is responsible for Parish Council matters, it must 

include at least one Parish Council representative amongst its members. However it is 

only a requirement that the parish representative is actually present when the 

Hearing Panel is dealing with a parish matter.  

 

8



6 

(i) the Chair shall ask the Legal Adviser or Democratic 

Services Officer whether the Member has indicated his/her 

intention not to attend the hearing; 

(ii) the Hearing Panel shall then consider any reasons which 

the Member has provided for not attending the hearing 

and shall decide whether it is satisfied that there is sufficient 

reason for such failure to attend; 

(iii) if the Hearing Panel is satisfied with such reasons, it shall 

adjourn the hearing to another date; 

(iv) if the Hearing Panel is not satisfied with such reasons, or if 

the Member has not given any such reasons, the Hearing 

Panel shall decide whether to consider the matter and 

make a determination in the absence of the Member or to 

adjourn the hearing to another date. 

 

(e) Exclusion of Press and Public 

The Hearing Panel may exclude the press and public from its 

consideration of this matter where it appears likely that 

confidential or exempt information will be disclosed in the course 

of this consideration. 

The Chair shall ask the Member, the Investigating Officer and the 

Legal Adviser or Democratic Services Officer whether they wish 

to ask the Hearing Panel to exclude the press or public from all or 

any part of the hearing. If any of them so request, the Chair shall 

ask them to put forward reasons for so doing and ask for 

responses from the others and the Hearing Panel shall then 

determine whether to exclude the press and public from all or 

any part of the hearing. 

Where the Hearing Panel does not resolve to exclude press and 

public, the agenda and any documents which have been 

withheld from the press and public in advance of the meeting 

shall then be made available to the press and public. 

9



7 

8 The hearing of the allegation of failure to comply with the Code of 

Conduct5 

The Hearing Panel will then address the issue of whether the Member 

failed to comply with the Code of Conduct in the manner set out in the 

Investigating Officer’s report. 6 

(a) The Chair shall ask the Member to confirm that he/she maintains 

the position as set out in the Pre-Hearing Summary Report. 

(b) The Pre-Hearing Process Summary 

The Chair will ask the Legal Adviser or Democratic Services 

Officer7 to present the Pre-Hearing Summary Report, highlighting 

any points of difference in respect of which the Member has 

stated that he/she disagrees with any finding of fact in the 

Investigating Officer’s report. The Chair will then ask the Member 

to confirm that this is an accurate summary of the issues and ask 

the Member to identify any additional points upon which he/she 

disagrees with any finding of fact in the Investigating Officer’s 

report. 

(i) If the Member admits that he/she has failed to comply with 

the Code of Conduct in the manner described in the 

                                            
5  The model procedure recommended by the Standards Board suggests that the 

Hearing Panel should first determine findings of fact and then determine whether 

there has been a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. These two are so 

closely connected that the Hearing Panel may find that it can conveniently 

determine the two together without any loss of fairness. 

 
6  Note that the Hearing Panel’s consideration is limited to a possible failure to comply 

with the Code of Conduct in the terms set out in the Investigating Officer’s report. It is 

possible that, in the course of their consideration, the Hearing Panel apprehends that 

the Member may have failed to comply with the Code of Conduct in some other 

manner. Note that any possible additional or alternative failure will not be within the 

remit of the Hearing Panel as, at that stage, the Member will not have had notice of 

the Hearing Panel’s consideration of the possible additional or alternative failure and 

that it would therefore be unfair to proceed to consider that second matter at the 

hearing into the first alleged failure. Where the Hearing Panel does apprehend a 

possible additional or alternative failure, a failure by a different Member, or a failure in 

respect of the Code of Conduct of another authority, they may refer the second 

matter to the Monitoring Officer to consider what steps, if any, may be necessary. 

 
7  Tasks such as the following will be undertaken by the Legal Adviser or Democratic 

Services Officer as appropriate in the circumstances (and both roles may be 

performed by the same person):- (i) the conduct of the pre-hearing process; (ii) the 

presentation of an introductory report to the Hearing Panel at the commencement of 

the hearing setting out the outcomes of the pre-hearing process; (iii) the giving of 

legal advice to the Hearing Panel; (iv) the recording of the Hearing Panel’s 

determination; and (v) the distribution and publication  of any required notices of the 

Hearing Panel’s determination. 

 

10



8 

Investigating Officer’s report, the Hearing Panel may then 

make a determination that the Member has failed to 

comply with the Code of Conduct in the manner 

described in the Investigating Officer’s report and proceed 

directly to consider whether any action should be taken 

(Paragraph 11). 

(ii) If the Member identifies additional points of difference, the 

Chair shall ask the Member to explain why he/she did not 

identify these points as part of the pre-hearing process. 

He/she shall then ask the Investigating Officer (if present) 

whether he/she is in a position to deal with those additional 

points of difference directly or through any witnesses who 

are in attendance or whose attendance at the hearing 

can conveniently be arranged. Where the Hearing Panel is 

not satisfied with the Member’s reasons for failing to 

identify each additional point of difference as part of the 

pre-hearing process, it may decide that it will continue the 

hearing but without allowing the Member to challenge the 

veracity of those findings of fact which are set out in the 

Investigating Officer’s report but in respect of which the 

Member did not identify a point of difference as part of the 

pre-hearing process, or it may decide to adjourn the 

hearing to allow the Investigating Officer and/or any 

additional witnesses to attend the hearing.  

(c) Presenting the Investigating Officer’s report 

(i) If the Investigating Officer is present, the Chair will then ask 

the Investigating Officer to present his/her report, having 

particular regard to any points of difference identified by 

the Member and why he/she concluded, on the basis of 

his/her findings of fact, that the Member had failed to 

comply with the Code of Conduct. The Investigating 

Officer may call witnesses as necessary to address any 

points of difference.  

(ii) If the Investigating Officer is not present, the Hearing Panel 

shall only conduct a hearing if they are satisfied that there 

are no substantial points of difference or that any points of 

difference can be satisfactorily resolved in the absence of 

the Investigating Officer. In the absence of the 

Investigating Officer, the Hearing Panel shall determine on 

the advice of the Legal Adviser or Democratic Services 

Officer which witnesses, if any, to call. Where such 

witnesses are called, the Chair shall draw the witnesses’ 

attention to any relevant section of the Investigating 

Officer’s report and ask the witness to confirm or correct 

11



9 

the report and to provide any relevant evidence. 

(iii) No cross-examination shall be permitted but, at the 

conclusion of the Investigating Officer’s report and/or of 

the evidence of each witness, the Chair shall ask the 

Member if there are any matters upon which the Hearing 

Panel should seek the advice of the Investigating Officer or 

the witness. 

(d) The Member’s response 

(i) The Chair shall then invite the Member to respond to the 

Investigating Officer’s report and to call any witnesses as 

necessary to address any points of difference. 

(ii) No cross-examination shall be permitted but, at the 

conclusion of the Member’s evidence and/or of the 

evidence of each witness, the Chair shall ask the 

Investigating Officer if there are any matters upon which 

the Hearing Panel should seek the advice of the Member 

or the witness. 

(e) Witnesses 

(i) The Hearing Panel shall be entitled to refuse to hear 

evidence from the Investigating Officer, the Member or a 

witness unless they are satisfied that the witness is likely to 

give evidence which they need to hear in order to be able 

to determine whether there has been a failure to comply 

with the Code of Conduct. 

(ii) Any member of the Hearing Panel may address questions 

to the Investigating Officer, to the Member or to any 

witness. 

(f) Additional Evidence 

At the conclusion of the evidence, the Chair shall check with the 

members of the Hearing Panel that they are satisfied that they 

have sufficient evidence to come to a considered conclusion on 

the matter. 

(g) If the Hearing Panel at any stage prior to determining whether 

there was a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct are of 

the opinion that they require additional evidence on any point in 

order to be able to come to a considered conclusion on the 

matter, the Hearing Panel may (on not more than one occasion) 

adjourn the hearing and make a request to the local 

Investigating Officer to seek and provide such additional 

12



10 

evidence and to undertake further investigation on any point 

specified by the Hearing Panel. 

(h) Determination as to whether there was a failure to comply with 

the Code of Conduct. 

(i) At the conclusion of the Member’s response, the Chair shall 

ensure that each member of the Hearing Panel is satisfied 

that he/she has sufficient information to enable him/her to 

determine whether there has been a failure to comply with 

the Code of Conduct as set out in the Investigating 

Officer’s report. 

(ii) Unless the determination merely confirms the Member’s 

admission of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct 

(as set out in Paragraph 9(b)(i) above), the Hearing Panel 

shall then retire to another room to consider in private 

whether the Member did fail to comply with the Code of 

Conduct as set out in the Investigating Officer’s report.  

(iii) The Hearing Panel shall take its decision on the balance of 

probability based on the evidence which it has received at 

the hearing. 

(iv) The Hearing Panel’s function is to make a determination on 

the matter. It may, at any time, return to the main hearing 

room in order to seek additional evidence from the 

Investigating Officer, the Member or a witness, or to seek 

the legal advice. If it requires any further information, it 

may adjourn on not more than one occasion and instruct 

an officer or request the Member to produce such further 

evidence to the Hearing Panel. 

(v) At the conclusion of the Hearing Panel’s consideration, the 

Hearing Panel shall consider whether it is minded to make 

any recommendations to the authority with a view to 

promoting high standards of conduct among Members. 

(vi) The Hearing Panel shall then return to the main hearing 

room and the Chair will state the Hearing Panel’s principal 

findings of fact and their determination as to whether the 

Member failed to comply with the Code of Conduct as set 

out in the Investigating Officer’s report.  

9 If the Member has not failed to follow the Code of Conduct 

If the Hearing Panel determines that the Member has not failed to 

follow the Code of Conduct in the manner set out in the Investigating 

Officer’s report: 

13



11 

(a) The Chair will announce the Hearing Panel’s decision that the 

Member has not failed to follow the Code of Conduct in respect 

of the alleged matter. The Chair will then move on to make any 

other announcements (if appropriate) as follows: 

(b) If the Hearing Panel apprehends, from the evidence which they 

have received during the hearing, that the Member may have 

failed to comply with the Code of Conduct (other than the 

matter which the Hearing Panel has just determined) and that 

this potential failure ought to be assessed, the Chair shall outline 

the Hearing Panel’s concerns and state that the Hearing Panel 

will refer this additional or alternative failure to the Monitoring 

Officer with a view to a further allegation being made to the 

relevant Standards Committee. 

(c) The Chair should then set out any recommendations which the 

Hearing Panel is minded to make to the authority with a view to 

promoting high standards of conduct among Members and seek 

the views of the Member, the Investigating Officer and the Legal 

Adviser or Democratic Services Officer before the Hearing Panel 

finalises any such recommendations. 

(d) Finally, the Chair should ask the Member whether he/she wishes 

the authority not to publish its finding that he or she had not 

failed to comply with the Code of Conduct and its reasons for 

that finding in a local newspaper and (in both cases at the 

discretion of the Hearing Panel) on the Authority’s website and in 

any other publication.8   

10 Action consequent upon a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct 

(a) The Chair may ask the Investigating Officer (if present, or 

otherwise the Legal Adviser or Democratic Services Officer) 

whether, in his/her opinion, the Member’s failure to comply with 

the Code of Conduct is such that the Hearing Panel should 

impose a sanction and, if so, what would be the appropriate 

sanction.  

(b) The Chair will then ask the Member to respond to the 

Investigating Officer’s advice. 

(c) The Chair will then ensure that each member of the Hearing 

Panel is satisfied that he/she has sufficient information to enable 

                                            
8  The summary of the Hearing Panel’s decision and reasons for it must be published in 

one or more local newspapers that are independent of the Council and otherwise as the 

Hearing Panel directs, unless the Hearing Panel finds that the Member did not fail to follow 

the Code of Conduct, in which case the Member is entitled to ask that there is no such 

publication.  

14



12 

him/her to take an informed decision as to whether to impose a 

sanction and (if appropriate) as to the form of the sanction. 

(d) Any member of the Hearing Panel may address questions to the 

Investigating Officer, the Member and/or the Legal Adviser as 

necessary to enable him/her to take such an informed decision. 

(e) The Chair should then set out any recommendations which the 

Hearing Panel is minded to make to the authority with a view to 

promoting high standards of conduct among Members and seek 

the views of the Member, the Investigating Officer and the Legal 

Adviser or Democratic Services Officer; 

(f) The Hearing Panel shall then retire to another room to consider in 

private whether to impose a sanction, (where a sanction is to be 

imposed) what sanction to impose and when that sanction 

should take effect, and any recommendations which the 

Hearing Panel will make to the authority. 

(g) In considering whether to impose a sanction and, if a sanction is 

to be imposed, what that sanction should be, the Hearing Panel 

shall take into account the guidance in Appendix A to this 

Procedure. 

(h) At the completion of their consideration, the Hearing Panel shall 

return to the main hearing room and the Chair shall state the 

Hearing Panel’s decisions as to whether to impose a sanction 

and (where a sanction is to be imposed) the nature of that 

sanction, and when it should take effect, together with the 

principal reasons for those decisions, and any recommendations 

which the Hearing Panel will make to the authority.  

11 Reference back to the ESO or Investigating Officer 

(a) If the Hearing Panel is considering a report referred by an ESO it 

may at any stage prior to the conclusion of the hearing adjourn 

the hearing and make a written request, with reasons, to the ESO 

concerned that the matter be referred back to the ESO for 

further investigation. If the request is accepted, the Hearing 

Panel shall cease its consideration of the matter. If it is not 

accepted, the Hearing Panel shall continue its consideration of 

the matter and make no further such requests. 

(b)  If the Hearing Panel is considering a report prepared by the 

Monitoring Officer (or a person appointed by him), it may at any 

stage prior to the conclusion of the hearing adjourn the hearing 

and, on one occasion only, require the Monitoring Officer to seek 

15



13 

further information or undertake further investigation on any 

point specified by it. 

12 The close of the hearing 

(a) The Hearing Panel will announce its decision on the day of the 

hearing and provide the Democratic Services Officer with a short 

written statement of its decision, which the Democratic Services 

Officer will deliver to the Member as soon as practicable after 

the close of the hearing; 

(b) The Chair will thank all those present who have contributed to 

the conduct of the hearing and formally close the hearing; 

(c) Following the close of the hearing, the Democratic Services 

Officer will agree in draft form a formal written notice of the 

Hearing Panel’s determination. The front cover of the decision will 

include the following information: 

• The names of: 

o the Council; 

o the Member; 

o the complaint; 

o the Chair; 

o the other members of the Hearing panel; 

o the Monitoring Officer; 

o the Investigating Officer;  

o the Democratic Services Officer; 

• The Council’s case reference number and any applicable 

case reference number from the Standards Board for 

England; 

• The date of the hearing; and 

• The date of the report. 

The formal written notice shall contain: 

• A summary of the complaint; 

• The relevant section or sections of the Code of Conduct; 

16



14 

• A summary of the evidence considered and representations 

made; 

• The findings of fact, including the reasons for them; 

• the finding as to whether the Member failed to follow the 

Code, including the reasons for that finding; 

• the sanctions imposed, if any, including the reasons for any 

sanctions; and  

• the right to appeal. 

(d) the Monitoring Officer shall arrange for the distribution of the 

formal written notice within two weeks of the close of the 

hearing, to: 

• the Member; 

• the Standards Board 

• the Investigating Officer and/or the ESO; 

• the members of the Standards Committee; 

• the Standards Committee of any local authority concerned; 

• any Parish Council concerned; 

• the person who made the allegation. 

(e) Subject to paragraph 9(d) if the Member had not failed to follow 

the Code of Conduct, the Monitoring Officer shall arrange for a 

summary of the notice (which shall include the information 

required by Regulation 20) to be published in one or more 

newspapers independent of the council and circulating in the 

area and (in both cases at the discretion of the Hearing Panel) 

on the Council’s website and in any other publication. 

13 Appeals 

The Member may seek permission to appeal against the decision of the 

Hearing Panel and, if appropriate, apply for suspension of any sanction 

imposed until such time as any appeal is determined, by giving written 

notice to the President of the Adjudication Panel for England, ensuring 

that his/her notice sets out  

(a) the finding against which he/she seeks to appeal; 

(b)  whether the appeal is against the finding of failure to comply 

17



15 

with the Code of Conduct, the sanction imposed or both; 

(c) the grounds of the appeal; 

(d) whether any application for suspension of any sanction is made; 

and 

(e) whether or not he/she consents to the appeal being conducted 

by way of written representations. 

The notice must be received by the President within 21 days of the 

Member’s receipt of the notification of the finding under Paragraph 

13(a). 

18



16 

APPENDIX A 
 

Sanctions 
 
1. Available sanctions 
 
The sanctions which are available to the Hearing Panel under the Standards 
Committee (England) Regulations 2008 are any of the following either 
individually or in combination: 
 

(i) censure of that Member (which is the only sanction that may be 
imposed for a person who has ceased to be a member); 

(ii) restriction for a period not exceeding six months of that 
Member’s access to the premises of the authority or that 
Member’s use of the resources of the authority, provided that 
such restrictions imposed upon the Member - 
(a) are reasonable and proportionate to the nature of the 

breach; and 
(b) do not unduly restrict the person’s ability to perform his 

functions and duties as a member. 
(iii) partial suspension of that Member for a period not exceeding six 

months; 
(iv) suspension of that Member for a period not exceeding six 

months; 
(v) that the Member submit a written apology in a form specified by 

the Hearing Panel; 
(vi) that the Member undertakes such training as the Hearing Panel 

specifies; 
(vii) that the Member participate in such conciliation as the Hearing 

Panel specifies; 
(viii) partial suspension of the Member for a period not exceeding six 

months or until such time the Member submits a written apology 
in a form specified by the Hearing Panel; 

(ix) partial suspension of the Member for a period not exceeding six 
months or  until such time as the Member has undertaken such 
training or has participated in such conciliation as the Hearing 
Panel specifies; 

(x) suspension of the Member for a period not exceeding six months 
or until such time as the Member has submitted a written 
apology in a form specified by the Hearing Panel; 

(xi) suspension of the Member for a period not exceeding six months 
or until such time as the Member has undertaken such training or 
has participated in such conciliation as the Hearing Panel 
specifies. 

 

Any sanction imposed shall commence immediately unless the Hearing Panel 

directs (for any sanction other than censure) that it shall commence on any 

date specified by the Hearing Panel within six months of the date of the 

hearing.  

19



17 

 

2. Considering the sanction 

 

(i) General 

 

In deciding what action to take, the Hearing Panel should bear in mind the 

aim of upholding and improving the standard of conduct expected of 

members of the various bodies to which the Codes of Conduct apply, as part 

of the process of fostering public confidence in local democracy. Thus the 

action taken by the Hearing Panel should be designed both to discourage or 

prevent the Member from any future non-compliance and also to 

discourage similar action by others. 

The Hearing Panel should take account of the actual consequences which 

have followed as a result of the member’s actions while at the same time 

bearing in mind what the possible consequences may have been even if 

they did not come about. 

 

This guidance does not include a firm tariff from which to calculate what 

length of disqualification or suspension should be applied to particular 

breaches of the Code. Any such would in any event need to have regard to 

the need to make adjustments toward the lower end of the spectrum if there 

are mitigating factors and towards the upper end if there are aggravating 

factors. 

 

(ii) Questions to be considered 

 

When deciding on a sanction, the Hearing Panel should ensure that it is 

reasonable and proportionate to the subject Member’s behaviour. Before 

deciding what sanction to issue, the Hearing Panel will consider the following 

questions, along with any relevant circumstances: 

 

• What was the Member’s intention? 

• Did the Member know that they were failing to follow the Code of 

Conduct? 

• Did the Member get advice from officers before the incident and if so, 

was that advice acted on or ignored in good faith? 

• Has there been a breach of trust? 

• Has there been financial irregularity, for example improper expense 

claims or procedural irregularities? 

• What was the result of the failure to follow the Code of Conduct? 

• What were the potential results of the failure to follow the Code of 

Conduct? 

• How serious was the incident? 

• Does the Member accept that they were at fault? 

• Did the Member apologise to any relevant people? 

• Has the Member failed to follow the Code of Conduct before? 

• Is the Member likely to do the same thing again? 

20



18 

• How will the sanction be carried out? For example, in the case of 

training or conciliation, who will provide that training or conciliation? 

• Are there any resource or funding implications? For example, if a 

subject Member has repeatedly or blatantly misused the authority’s 

information technology resources, the standards committee may 

consider withdrawing those resources from the subject Member. 

 

(iii) Mitigating and aggravating factors 

 

The Hearing Panel will also take into account any aggravating or mitigating 

factors. The following are given by way of example only and are not 

intended to be an exhaustive list. Mitigating factors may include: 

 

• An honestly held, although mistaken, view that the action concerned 

did not constitute a failure to follow the provisions of the Code of 

Conduct, particularly where such a view has been formed after taking 

appropriate advice. 

• A Member’s previous record of good service. 

• Substantiated evidence that the Member’s actions have been 

affected by ill-health. 

• Recognition that there has been failure to follow the Code; co-

operation in rectifying the effects of that failure; an apology to 

affected persons where appropriate; self-reporting of the breach by 

the Member. 

• Compliance with the Code since the events giving rise to the 

determination. 

• Some actions, which may have involved a breach of the Code, may 

nevertheless have had some beneficial effect for the public. 

 

Aggravating factors may include: 

 

• Dishonesty. 

• Continuing to deny the facts despite clear contrary evidence. 

• Seeking unfairly to blame other people. 

• Failing to heed appropriate advice or warnings or previous findings of a 

failure to follow the provisions of the Code. 

• Persisting with a pattern of behaviour which involves repeatedly failing 

to abide by the provisions of the Code. 

 

(iv) Miscellaneous  

 

• Suspension may be appropriate for more serious cases, such as those 

involving: 

 

• trying to gain an advantage for themselves or others; 

• dishonesty or breaches of trust;  

• bullying. 

21



19 

 

• Sanctions which involve restricting access to the Council’s premises or 

equipment should not unnecessarily restrict the Member’s ability to carry 

out their responsibilities as an elected representative or co-opted 

member. 

22



20 

Appendix B - Time line for local determination procedure 

 
day 1   
 Receipt of ESO’s/Investigating Officer’s (IO’s) report by MO 
        
           Within 5 working days  
   
  
end of week 1 Action: Arrange date for the hearing 

Action: Send copy of ESO’s/IO’s report to Member 
etc and ask Member for response and info (Paras 4 
re ESO & 5 re IO) 

 
    Within 14 days of receipt  
    Guidance: “within a set time” p5 
 
 Action:  Send copy of ESO’s/IO’s report to 

Complainant etc (Paras 4 re ESO & 5 re IO) 
 
end of week 3 Member provides response and info 
 
 Action: Invite ESO/IO to comment on Member’s 

response and ask for other info (Paras 4 re ESO & 5 re 
IO) 

 
    Within 14days of receipt 
    Guidance: “within a set time” p6 
 
end of week 5 ESO’s/IO’s comments received 
 
 Action: Legal adviser to Hearing Panel to decide on 

facts that are agreed and those in dispute, write up 
hearing summary and decide on witnesses.- time 
taken (not specified in procedure) 5 days? Inform 
witness to be called of hearing date (Paras 4 or 5) 

 
 Action: Provide notice of hearing date, agenda and 

send hearing bundle to relevant people (Paras 4 or 
5) 

 
    Minimum 2 weeks notice  
    Guidance: “minimum 2 weeks” p6 
 
during week 9 Date of Hearing 
 (earliest date of Hearing: 2 weeks after Member is 

sent copy of ESO/IO’s report – Reg 6(2)(c ) 
 

allow 3 weeks for possible 
adjournments etc 

23



21 

 
end of week 12 Hearing must be completed within 3 months of 

receipt of ESO’s report – Reg 6(2)(b) 

24



22 

 

Appendix C: Hearing Process  

 

• Introductions & explanation of procedures 

• Preliminaries: disclosures of interest, quorum, confirm hearing procedure 

• Decision as to whether to proceed in absence of Member (if applicable) 

• Decision as to exclusion of press and public 

• Member confirms whether maintaining position 

• Legal adviser or Democratic Services Officer presents Pre-Hearing 

Summary Report 

• Member confirms whether accurate summary of issues, identifies any 

additional points where disagrees with findings of fact in Investigation 

Officer’s Report and or admits failure to comply with Code of Conduct. 

• If Member admits failure to comply with Code of Conduct, Hearing Panel 

may make a determination accordingly and proceed directly to consider 

whether any action to be taken. 

• If Member identifies additional points of difference, Chair asks Member to 

explain why not identified as part of the Pre-Hearing Process and decide 

on what basis to proceed or whether to adjourn hearing.  

• Investigating Officer presents report if present and calls witnesses as 

necessary. If Investigating Officer absent, Hearing Panel determines 

whether to conduct hearing  and calls witnesses as necessary.  

• At conclusion of report and/or each witnesses’ evidence, Hearing Panel 

consults Member as to whether it should seek the advice of the 

Investigating Officer or the relevant witness. 

• Chair invites Member to respond to the Investigating Officer’s report and 

to call any witnesses as necessary. 

• At the conclusion of Member’s evidence and/or of the evidence of each 

witness, Chair asks Investigating Officer if there are any matters upon 

which the Hearing Panel should seek the advice of the Member or the 

witness.  

• At the conclusion of all evidence, Chair checks that members of the 

Hearing Panel are satisfied they have sufficient evidence to come to a 

considered conclusion. 

• Hearing Panel retires to consider determination (unless determination will 

merely confirm Member’s admission of a failure to comply with the Code 

25



23 

of Conduct) and whether it is minded to make any recommendations to 

the authority with a view to promoting high standards of conduct among 

Members.  

• Hearing Panel may, at any time, return to the main hearing room in order 

to seek additional evidence or legal advice. If it requires any further 

information, it may adjourn on not more than one occasion and instruct 

an officer or request the Member to produce such further evidence to the 

Hearing Panel. 

• Hearing Panel returns to main hearing room and Chair states Hearing 

Panel’s principal findings of fact and its determination. 

• If Hearing Panel determines that the Member has not failed to follow the 

Code of Conduct in the manner set out in the Investigating Officer’s 

report, Chair announces Hearing Panel’s decision, any decision of 

whether to refer other potential failures, any other recommendations and 

checks whether Member objects to publication of a summary of the 

complaint. 

• If Hearing Panel determines Member has failed to follow the Code of 

Conduct: 

• Chair may take advice on appropriate sanction 

• Member  responds 

• Chair ensures all members of Panel have sufficient information to 

decide on sanction 

• Panel retires to consider whether to impose sanction and any 

recommendations. 

• On return, Chair states decision (with principal reasons) as to whether a 

sanction should be imposed, the nature of any sanction, and states 

any recommendations. 

• Hearing Panel provides Democratic Services Officer with short written 

statement of its decision, which Democratic Services Officer delivers to 

Member as soon as practicable after the close of the hearing 

• Chair thanks all those present who have contributed to the conduct of the 

hearing and formally closes the hearing. 

• Following close of hearing Democratic Services Officer agrees formal 

written notice of the Hearing Panel’s determination in draft form.  

• Monitoring Officer arranges for distribution of formal written notice within 

two weeks of the close of the hearing,  

26



24 

• Monitoring Officer arranges for summary of notice to be published. 

NB: If Hearing Panel is considering a report referred by an ESO it may at any 

stage prior to the conclusion of the hearing adjourn the hearing and make a 

written request, with reasons, to the ESO concerned that the matter be referred 

back to the ESO for further investigation. If the request is accepted, the Hearing 

Panel shall cease its consideration of the matter. If it is not accepted, the 

Hearing Panel shall continue its consideration of the matter and make no further 

such requests. If the Hearing Panel is considering a report prepared by the 

Monitoring Officer (or a person appointed by him), it may at any stage prior to 

the conclusion of the hearing adjourn the hearing and, on one occasion only, 

require the Monitoring Officer to seek further information or undertake further 

investigation on any point specified by it. 

27



28



29

Document is Restricted



32



33

Document is Restricted



56



57

Document is Restricted



78



79

Document is Restricted



80


	Agenda
	2 Procedural Business
	3 Consideration of a Complaint Made Against a Member Case Reference: BHC-006219 - Exempt Category 1
	Item 03 Appendix 1 Investigation Officer's report final
	Item 03 Appendix 1 Investigation report appendices final
	Item 03 Appendix 3 Draft Minutes of Consideration Panel


